2002

# In the Matter of of the Discipline of: Sonnenreich v. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

**Issue 1:** Whether the District Court erred in concluding that the Utah State Bar’s Office of Professional Conduct (“OPC”) has no authority to premise an unauthorized practice of law complaint upon an administrative suspension. The applicable standard of review is a correctness standard. See In re Babilis, 951 P.2d 207 (Utah 1997). The issue was preserved in the District Court by legal memorandum and the oral argument of counsel. (R. 88-207; 904:12-13)

**Issue 2:** Whether the District Court erred in concluding that the Bar has no authority to administratively suspend attorneys for failure to pay their annual licensing fees. The applicable standard of review is a correctness standard. See In re Babilis, 951 P.2d 207 (Utah 1997). The issue was preserved in the District Court by legal memorandum and the oral argument of counsel. (R. 88-207; 904:12-18)

**Issue 3:** Whether the District Court erred in concluding that the OPC has no authority to bring this action. The applicable standard of review is a correctness standard. See In re Babilis, 951 P.2d 207 (Utah 1997). The issue



was preserved in the District Court by legal memorandum and the oral argument of counsel. (R. 88-207; 904:12-18)

**Issue 4:** Whether the District Court erred in concluding that the Complaint failed to satisfy the requirements of Rule 11 of the Rules of Lawyer Discipline and Disability and Rule 8 of the Rules of Civil Procedure. The applicable standard of review is a correctness standard. See In re Babilis, 951 P.2d 207 (Utah 1997). The issue was preserved in the District Court by legal memorandum. (R. 88-207)

**Issue 5:** Whether the District Court erred in the context of entering a summary judgment in making factual findings, such as the finding that Sonnenreich received no notice of the administrative suspension. The applicable standard of review is a correctness standard. See In re Babilis, 951 P.2d 207 (Utah 1997). The issue was preserved in the District Court by legal memorandum and the oral argument of counsel. (R. 290-303; 904:12-18)

**Issue 6:** Whether the District Court erred in awarding attorney fees to Sonnenreich based upon its determination that the OPC's action against Sonnenreich was without merit and not brought or asserted in good faith within the meaning of Utah Code section 78-27-56. This issue is a mixed question of law and fact, and the applicable standard of review is an abuse of discretion standard. See Pennington v. Allstate Ins. Co., 973 P.2d 932 (Utah 1998). The issue was preserved in the District Court by legal memorandum and the oral argument of counsel. (R. 491-538; 905:18-30)

**Issue 7:** Whether the District Court erred in awarding attorney's fees in an amount that was unreasonable. The applicable standard of review is an

abuse of discretion standard. See Salmon v. Davis County, 916 P.2d 890 (Utah 1996). The issue was preserved in the District Court by legal memorandum. (R. 707-731)

### **DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, AND RULES**

The following constitutional provisions, statutes, and rules are set forth verbatim in the addendum.

#### **Statutes**

Utah Code § 78-27-56

#### **Rules**

Rule 5.5 (Unauthorized Practice of Law), Rules of Professional Conduct  
Rules for Integration and Management of the Utah State Bar  
Rules of Lawyer Discipline and Disability

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **Nature of the Case**

This case originated in a disciplinary action the OPC filed in District Court against Sharon Sonnenreich. (R. 1-4) The OPC alleges that Sonnenreich engaged in the unauthorized practice of law ("UPL") in violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct when she continued to practice law after the Utah State Bar administratively suspended her for failure to pay her annual licensing fee. (R. 1-4)

### **Course of Proceedings and Disposition at Trial Court**

The OPC filed a District Court Complaint against Sonnenreich on April 24, 2000. (R. 1-4) Sonnenreich filed an Answer on May 24, 2000. (R. 12-20) The action terminated when the District Court entered a Memorandum Decision pursuant to Sonnenreich's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and ordered summary judgment in Sonnenreich's favor, dismissing the OPC's Complaint with prejudice on the merits. (R. 282-289; 331-332) Sonnenreich subsequently moved for an award of attorney's fees, which the District Court granted. (R. 342; 669-675; 803-805) Later, the District Court revised the amount of the award, but not its substantive basis. (R. 893-894)

## **RELEVANT FACTS**

### **The Events Leading to the Initiation of the Case in District Court**

The OPC contends that in 1999, Sonnenreich failed to pay her annual licensing fee.<sup>1</sup> (R. 1-4) The Utah State Bar ("the Bar") administratively suspended Sonnenreich for her alleged non-payment of the licensing fee, and during the period of her administrative suspension was not authorized to practice law in the State of Utah. (R. 1-4) The OPC contends that the Bar's Executive Director gave Sonnenreich notice<sup>2</sup> at her address on record with the Bar that her name had been removed from the roll of attorneys licensed to practice law in Utah by reason of her failure to pay her 1999-2000 license fees. (R. 115) The OPC contends that Sonnenreich continued to practice law and hold herself out as an attorney after she had been administratively suspended for non-payment of dues. (R. 1-4) Sonnenreich paid her 1999 licensing fee on January 7, 2000 and the Bar immediately reinstated her from the administrative suspension. (R. 3)

The OPC initiated an informal complaint against Sonnenreich predicated upon her alleged UPL during the time of her interim suspension, served her with a Notice of Informal Complaint, and referred the matter to a Screening Panel of the Ethics and Discipline Committee ("Screening Panel"). The Screening Panel convened to hear Sonnenreich's case in late March 2000. (R. 1-4)

The Screening Panel recommended "[t]hat a formal complaint be filed against the respondent." (R. 1-4; 151-156) The Screening Panel Information

---

<sup>1</sup> This allegation, along with others noted herein, has never been adjudicated, inasmuch as the District Court summarily dismissed the OPC's action against Sonnenreich.

Sheet, a form filled out and signed by the Chair of the Screening Panel, stated in part as follows:

There is probable cause to believe that the Respondent was engaged in professional misconduct with regard to Rule 5.5. With specific reference to this Rule[ ], the Panel finds these facts by a preponderance of the evidence.

...

Based upon the facts found by the Panel that the Respondent engaged in professional misconduct with respect to Rule[ ] 5.5 and that the Respondent acted negligently, the Panel recommends that a formal complaint be filed against the Respondent regarding Rule[ ] 5.5.

(R. 154-155) In the alternative, the Screening Panel could, among other things, have dismissed the informal complaint altogether<sup>3</sup> or recommended that Sonnenreich receive an admonition; it took neither of these actions as to the UPL allegation. (R. 155-156)

### **The District Court Action**

The OPC filed the Complaint on April 24, 2000. (R. 1-4) It was signed by the OPC attorney assigned to the case and also by the person who was then the Chair of the Ethics and Discipline Committee.<sup>4</sup> (R. 1-4) The Complaint alleged that Sonnenreich had been administratively suspended for failing to pay her annual licensing fee, but nevertheless continued to hold herself out as an

---

<sup>2</sup> One of the central issues of this case is whether the RLDD require actual notice.

<sup>3</sup> Indeed, the Panel dismissed two alleged rule violations brought against Sonnenreich based upon its "belief that there was not probable cause to conclude there was professional misconduct" as to those charges. (R. 156)

<sup>4</sup> The District Court Complaint, known as a "formal" Complaint, must be signed by the Chair of the Ethics and Discipline Committee, or by another Committee member in the Chair's absence. See Rule 11(a), RLDD. Accordingly, although the OPC attorney assigned primary responsibility for the case drafted and signed

attorney and practice law in violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct. (R. 1-4)

Sonnenreich filed an Answer on May 24, 2000. (R. 12-20) Shortly thereafter, she filed a Motion for Judgment on Pleadings, along with a memorandum and affidavit in support thereof. (R. 26-27; 28-49; 50-81) Sonnenreich filed the Motion for Judgment on Pleadings pursuant to Rule 12 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, but it was converted to a Motion for Summary Judgment because it was supported and opposed by papers outside of the pleadings. (R. 50-81; 111-113) Sonnenreich contended that the Bar has no authority to suspend attorneys or judges; that the action against Sonnenreich can only be instituted by the Board of Bar Commissioners; that the Complaint did not state in plain and concise language the facts upon which the charge of unprofessional conduct is based and the applicable rules; the Complaint was not predicated upon a screening panel finding of probable cause to believe there are grounds for public discipline and that a formal complaint is merited. (R. 26-27)

The District Court heard brief oral argument on Sonnenreich's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, then entered a Memorandum Decision granting "judgment on the pleadings" in Sonnenreich's favor.<sup>5</sup> (R. 904; 281; 282-289) The Memorandum Decision stated grounds summarized as follows: (1) The Bar [OPC] may not premise a UPL action upon an administrative suspension; (2)

---

the Complaint, the person who was the Chair at the time the action was filed against Sonnenreich also reviewed and signed it.

<sup>5</sup> The Judgment was signed by Judge Iwasaki for Judge Stirba. Judge Stirba entered the Memorandum Decision of January 8, 2001, and presided over the case to this point. By the time the case reached the phase at which the District

Sonnenreich received no actual notice of the administrative suspension; (3) only minor forms of discipline are warranted when an attorney's misconduct is negligent and causes no actual injury; (4) the OPC [Bar] has no authority to suspend attorneys because this is the province of the Supreme Court, and further, the OPC had no authority to bring this action because such actions must be instituted by the Board of Bar Commissioners; (5) the Complaint fails to provide sufficient facts to satisfy Rule 11 of the RLDD or Rule 8 of the Rules of Civil Procedure.<sup>6</sup> (R. 282-289) The court's decision was predicated in part upon this Court's decision in In re Crandall.<sup>7</sup> (R. 285-286)

Sonnenreich prepared a proposed Judgment which provided that she was entitled to costs pursuant to Rule 54(d) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, and that the Court retained jurisdiction to consider attorney fees under the bad faith filing statute. Pursuant to the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration, the OPC objected to the proposed Judgment, among other things noting that Sonnenreich's motion should be treated as a motion for summary judgment. (R. 290-304) Sonnenreich responded to the OPC's objections, and submitted a Judgment [Revised Form] that set forth the same ruling as the proposed Judgment, and

---

Court considered Sonnenreich's Motion for Attorneys' Fees, it had been assigned to Judge Burton.

<sup>6</sup> The court appears to have made the common assumption that the Bar and its actions are one and the same as the OPC and its actions. Indeed, the nomenclatural distinction between the two has not always been vigorously maintained by the OPC itself, and often the difference is of no consequence. Nevertheless, the distinction is significant in this context because it is the Bar that administratively suspends attorneys, whereas the OPC has no authority to suspend anyone, either for disciplinary or administrative reasons.

<sup>7</sup> In re Crandall, 784 P.2d 1193 (Utah 1989).

included language to the effect that Sonnenreich had filed an Affidavit with Supporting Materials. (R. 305-320; 318-320)

The District Court through a Minute Entry found that Sonnenreich's [Revised Form of] Judgment accurately reflected its decision, but also found that through "clerical error," because of the affidavits filed by the parties, it should have considered Sonnenreich's motion under Rule 56 of the Rules of Civil Procedure rather than as a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. (R. 323-325) The District Court requested that Sonnenreich submit a corrected form of judgment. (R. 323) The District Court ordered Judgment on April 25, 2001 pursuant to Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, dismissing the OPC's action against Sonnenreich "with prejudice on the merits." (R. 331-332)

The Judgment of April 25 was the subject of a Notice of Appeal filed by the OPC in May 2001 ("first appeal"). (R. 333-335) Sonnenreich moved to summarily dismiss the OPC's first appeal. Motion for Summary Disposition and for Attorneys' Fees, Supreme Court Case No. 20010459-SC, June 15, 2001.

In June, Sonnenreich filed a Motion for Attorneys' Fees Pursuant to Utah Code § 78-27-56 ("the bad faith filing statute"). (R. 342; 344-487) The OPC opposed the motion, and Sonnenreich filed a reply. (R. 491-538; 542-652)

This Court summarily dismissed the OPC's first appeal. (R. 667) The Order noted that the dismissal was granted "for reasons other than those presented by the respondent," and although the appeal was dismissed because it was prematurely filed, "inasmuch as this precise question has not previously



been presented, we do not find the appeal to have been frivolous.” (R. 667) The Court denied Sonnenreich’s request for attorney fees. (R. 667)

The District Court<sup>8</sup> heard oral argument on Sonnenreich’s motion for attorney fees on October 16, 2001, and subsequently entered a Memorandum Decision granting the motion for fees pursuant to the bad faith filing statute and asking Sonnenreich’s counsel to submit an affidavit “of appropriate fees.” (R. 905; 669-675) The Memorandum Decision summarized the parties’ positions, and reviewed the elements for awarding attorney’s fees. (R. 669-675) The substance of the court’s decision is set forth verbatim:

Applying the aforementioned [elements] to the facts of this case, it appears Judge Stirba in her ruling found the Crandall and Schwenke cases to be applicable in this matter, thus resulting in a finding that the action was found to be clearly meritless.

As to the issue of whether the Complaint was brought in bad faith, “In order to find that a party acted in bad faith, the trial court must determine that at least one of the following factors existed: ( i) The party lacked an honest belief in the propriety of the activities in question; ( ii) the party intended to take unconscionable advantage of others; or ( iii ) the party intended to or acted with the knowledge that the activities in question would hinder, delay or defraud others.” See Cady v. Johnson, 671 P.2d 149, 151 (Utah 1983). Obviously an accusation that a party has brought a complaint in bad faith is a serious matter. However, in the present case, given the lack of foundation for the action,\* combined with the total lack of a factual basis on the issue of notice, the Court finds this matter could not have been brought with an honest belief in its propriety.

(R. 673-674) This passage included a footnote, the placement of which is shown by an asterisk, that stated, “Particularly true in light of the existing case law.” (R. 673)

Sonnenreich submitted a proposed Final Judgment (Attorney Fees) along with an Attorneys’ Fees Affidavit with attached timesheets. (R. 769-781) The

Initial Affidavit requested attorney fees in the amount of \$26,418.25 and costs in the amount of \$690.76. (R. 769-781) The OPC objected to the proposed Final Judgment, and to the Initial Affidavit. (R. 707-731) It also requested a hearing. (R. 707) After the OPC objected to particular aspects of the attorneys' fee award, Sonnenreich's counsel submitted another affidavit ("Second Affidavit"). (R. 749-753) In it, Sonnenreich's counsel recounted three experiences in the 1970s representing clients in admission cases, and "supervision of the defense of certain bar charges which have been brought against attorneys at Jones Waldo during the past twenty years." (R. 749-753) He also summarized his experience in administrative law and litigation, and added charges totaling \$3,673 for "preparing the reply to the OPC's response to our attorneys' fees claim." (R. 749-753) Additionally, Sonnenreich objected to the OPC's request for a hearing. (R. 746-748)

The District Court denied the OPC's request for a hearing, and awarded Sonnenreich attorney's fees in the amount of \$27,213.25. (R. 800-802; 803-805) It entered the judgment on January 11, 2002, and one week later Sonnenreich filed an Application for Writ of Garnishment. (R. 804; 806-807)

Sonnenreich subsequently filed a Rule 60 Motion for Relief of Clerical Error asking the District Court to revise the Final Judgment to an amount totaling \$30,886.25. (R. 821-823; 808-820) The District Court entered a revised judgment as requested. (R. 891-892; 893-894) The Revised Final Judgment raised no additional issues; it merely added several thousand dollars to the

---

<sup>8</sup> By this time, Judge Burton had been assigned to the case.

amount of the judgment. The OPC will address particular details of the attorneys' fee award below.

### **The Case on Appeal**

The OPC filed a Notice of Appeal in the District Court on January 29, 2002 ("second appeal"), followed by a Docketing Statement in this Court. (R. 838-839; Docketing Statement, February 19, 2002) Sonnenreich filed a motion requesting that the Court summarily affirm the District Court. (Rule 10 Motion for Summary Affirmance, March 8, 2002) The Court deferred ruling on this motion "until further consideration," and directed the parties to "proceed to the next stage in the appellate process." (Order, April 8, 2002) Accordingly, the OPC proceeded with briefing its appeal; the brief was due June 5, 2002.

Just one week before the OPC's brief was due, Sonnenreich moved to dismiss the OPC's second appeal. She contended that the OPC's notice of appeal was not filed in a timely fashion. (Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction, May 29, 2002) Essentially, Sonnenreich argued that the OPC was required to file another Notice of Appeal after the District Court revised the amount of the final judgment. This Court denied the motion. (Order, August 12, 2002) Accordingly, the OPC resumed work on its brief. The matter is now before the Court on its merits.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Bar may administratively suspend attorneys who fail to pay their annual licensing fee. If the attorney continues to practice law during the period of administrative suspension, the OPC may prosecute the attorney for violating the

Rule of Professional Conduct prohibiting the unauthorized practice of law. The District Court erred in concluding otherwise in connection with the OPC's prosecution of a disciplinary action against Sonnenreich predicted upon her alleged UPL while she was administratively suspended. Additionally the District Court erred in concluding that the OPC's Complaint failed to satisfy applicable rules: the Complaint was sufficiently specific in identifying the OPC's allegations against Sonnenreich. The court also erred in finding that Sonnenreich did not receive notice of her administrative suspension; whether Sonnenreich received actual notice is a matter in dispute, but the OPC contends that the notice the Bar gives is sufficient. Finally, the District Court erred in awarding attorneys fees to Sonnenreich pursuant to the bad faith filing statute, and in awarding fees in an amount that was not reasonable. A Screening Panel directed the OPC to file the action, the Chair of the Ethics and Discipline Committee reviewed and signed it, and the OPC drafted and filed it in the honest belief in its propriety. Accordingly, the OPC asks the Court to reverse the District Court's award of attorneys' fees, and to remand the case for further proceedings in District Court.

#### **DETAIL OF THE ARGUMENT**

**I. The Rules Authorize the Utah State Bar to Administratively Suspend the Licenses of Attorneys Who Fail to Pay Their Licensing Fees**

**A. The Source of the Bar's Authority to Administratively Suspend the Licenses of Attorneys Who Do Not Pay the License Fee**

Lawyers are required to pay an annual license fee to the Utah State Bar; the Rules of Lawyer Discipline and Disability ("RLDD") provide that "[e]very lawyer admitted to practice in this state shall pay to the Bar on or before July 1 of each year an annual license fee for each fiscal year . . . ." Rule 8, RLDD.

The RLDD further provide that:

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