2002

In the matter of the Disciple of Sharon Sonnenreich : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

Here, the complaint does not allege such a finding because the screening panel never determined that there was probable cause to believe that there were grounds for public discipline. OPC’s Complaint was not based on the screening panel report it did not refer to it nor was it attached. The report was first produced in connection with the OPC’s responsive memo before Judge Stirba. R 151-156.

Judge Stirba examined that report and found that the screening panel had told OPC that Sonnenreich’s offense¹⁴ was committed “negligently” the panel did not find harm to anyone or the administration of justice. A quick examination of the screening panel report indicates that the panel did not follow the instructions and never made a finding of grounds for public discipline.

The instructions recognize three situations that warrant a “formal complaint.”¹⁵ The pertinent pages of the screening panel report appear at R 154-55.

¹⁴OPC never asked the screening panel to identify the facts underlying the offense. It appears that the offense it found was perhaps some sort of negligence in not making sure the payment was processed.

¹⁵The form OPC gave the screening panel never asks it to determine whether a district court complaint should be filed seeking “public discipline.” The form uses only the undefined phrase “formal complaint,” which OPC conflates into an instruction to file a complaint in district court, which may not be at all what the screening panel had in mind.

Box 5 authorizes a formal complaint when the offense is negligent but only when two additional factors are present, potential injury to the public or the legal system; and the lawyer has been disciplined previously (within five years). Sonnenreich has no disciplinary history and box 5 was not checked. There was no finding of potential harm.

Box 6 allows a formal complaint for negligent misconduct without a previous discipline only when there is “actual injury to a party, the public or the legal system or that there was actual interference with a legal proceeding...” That box was not checked. R 155. Moreover, OPC did not allege any actual injury. R 117-120.

The screening panel chair checked box 7, that reserved for “intentional or knowing misconduct.” However, the chair blacked out the words “intentional or knowing” and wrote in “negligently.” R 155.

Had the screening panel chair followed the instructions he could never have reached box 7. The panel found only negligence in answering question 2: “the panel specifically finds that the respondent acted: Intentionally/knowingly; [or] negligently.” The panel checked “negligently”. R 154. The instructions are clear: if the intentional/knowingly box is checked, “check and complete paragraph 7 authorizing a formal complaint for intentional or knowing misconduct.” R 154. That is the only path to box 7.

Under the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, the category under which misconduct that is negligent and harmless falls is an admonition. Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions 4.5. Those standards expressly state that an “[a]dmonition is nonpublic discipline.” 2.7. Judge Stirba was correct in her analysis that the screening panel’s finding was inadequate to

meet RLDD 11(a)'s mandate that a screening panel find "probable cause to believe there are grounds for public discipline." Therefore only one of the two requirements was met.

OPC did not follow either RLDD 11 or the screening panel's instructions. Had OPC read and followed Rule 11, it could not have filed the complaint since it knew from the screening panel report that the offense was harmless and negligent and was not therefore a finding of probable cause that there are ground for "public discipline" as required by Rule 11(a). Had OPC followed the screening panel's literal instructions it would have pleaded the charge based on the offense as to which the screening panel found probable cause, a single count of harmless negligence. It also would have filed against all of the respondents in the cases. R 53; R 43; R 703. OPC has failed to appeal from Judge Stirba's dispositive ruling on this point, which stands unassailed as the law of this case and disposes of this appeal. See Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure 9(f). This issue is not raised in the docketing statement or Brief.¹⁶

VIII. THE COMPLAINT DOES NOT CONTAIN A "PLAIN AND CONCISE" STATEMENT OF "THE FACTS UPON WHICH THE CHARGE IS BASED";

¹⁶The OPC launches a gratuitous and unfair attack on Judge Stirba's determination that the screening panel found no Rule 8 violation. Judge Stirba was entirely correct. First, OPC never alleged a RPC 8.4(a) violation. R 117. Moreover, the screening panel never found any violation of RPC 8.4 or any of its subparts. OPC charged Sonnenreich with several RPC 8.4 violations including 8.4(b) and 8.4(c). Those charges were specifically rejected.

OPC never asked the screening panel to determine whether Sonnenreich's conduct as charged actually violated RPC 8.4(a). Instead it preprinted a violation of Rule 8.4(a) on the form. OPC claimed it was authorized to pre-print the RPC 8.4(a) violation by a decision from the Mississippi Supreme Court. That decision, *Terrell v. Mississippi Bar*, 662 So. 2d 586 (Miss. 1995) says no such thing. It involved a sufficiency of evidence review after a fact finding not a preprinted violation on a screening panel form. In any event, the Mississippi Supreme Court cannot authorize OPC to avoid having a Utah screening panel answer the key question: is the alleged conduct as to which you found probable cause serious enough that you want it to be treated as a breach of the ethics rules per RPC 8.4(a).

JUDGE STIRBA DID NOT ERR IN DISMISSING THE COMPLAINT ON THAT BASIS. OPC WAS ALSO UNABLE TO PRESENT ANY FACTS SUPPORTING THE COMPLAINT TO JUDGE BURTON EVEN TO SAVE ITSELF FROM A FINDING IT ACTED IN BAD FAITH.

OPC has never identified any acts of Sonnenreich that could constitute either practicing law or holding herself out as an attorney. Instead, OPC merely “contends that Sonnenreich continued to practice law and hold herself out as an attorney after she had been administratively suspended.” Brief at 5.

RLDD 11(a) required OPC to file “a formal complaint setting forth in plain and concise language the facts upon which the charge of unprofessional conduct is based and the applicable provisions of the Rules of Professional Conduct.” (emphasis added).

A fact is “an actual or alleged event or circumstance, as distinguished from its legal effect, consequence or interpretation.” *Black's Law Dictionary* (7th Edition 1998). The complaint fails to identify a single event or circumstance concerning Sonnenreich practicing law or holding herself out as a lawyer. It contains only a conclusory assertion.

Additionally, a lawyer’s procedural due process rights include the right to knowledge of the charge before the proceedings commence because knowledge of the charge is essential to the lawyer’s right to explain and defend. *In re Ruffalo, supra*; *see, also, In re Worthen, supra* (judge hailed before judicial conduct commission has right to be unambiguously informed as to specific issues he must meet).

OPC filed the complaint only after OPC had completed its own investigation, which was so thorough it involved calling a law firm where Sonnenreich had not worked in a decade (see Fact ¶ 10) and after OPC had conducted a screening panel hearing. If OPC had knowledge of

any actual or alleged “events or circumstances” involving Sonnenreich practicing law or holding herself out as a lawyer it would have been simple to set them forth in a short and concise statement.

Before Judge Burton, Sonnenreich argued that OPC’s inability to explain to whom Sonnenreich allegedly held herself out as a lawyer and for whom she practiced law and in what manner was powerful proof that the action was brought in bad faith. OPC did not respond by telling Judge Burton the factual basis for the charge. Instead, it merely repeated its earlier contention:

OPC contends that Sonnenreich continued to practice law after she had been administratively suspended for non-payment of dues.

R 493.

A contention that a rule was broken is not a “fact.” The record is devoid of a single “fact” suggesting Sonnenreich practiced law during the period OPC claims Respondent was suspended. Due to the utter absence of facts from the complaint, Judge Stirba had no choice but to dismiss it.

IX. OPC HAS FAILED TO MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF JUDGE BURTON'S DECISION THAT OPC ACTED IN BAD FAITH. OPC'S ATTEMPTS TO BLAME THE SCREENING PANEL AND MR. WILSON ARE FURTHER PROOF OF ITS BAD FAITH. OPC'S BAD FAITH IS MANIFEST.

A. OPC Was Required to But Failed to Marshal the Evidence Supporting Judge Burton's Bad Faith Determination.

The rules and principles of appellate procedure apply in attorney discipline case unless specifically overridden by the Rules of Lawyer Discipline and Disability. RLDD 17. In deciding the first case under the new disciplinary procedures adopted in 1997, this Court noted that it would, with one exception, adhere to its usual "scope of review" and overturn fact findings only when they are "arbitrary, capricious or plainly in error." The exception recognized by the Court was a reservation, based on its Constitutional role, of its discretion to draw different inferences from facts found by the district court. *In re Babilis*, 951 P.2d 207, 213 (Utah 1997); *see also In re Ennenga*, 37 P.3d 1150, 1153 (Utah 2001) (applying "clearly erroneous" standard of factual deference in reviewing a lawyer discipline matter).

Marshaling is required when a fact finding concerning bad faith under Utah Code § 78-27-56 is examined on appeal. *Wardley Better Homes and Garden v. Cannon*, 21 P.3d 235, 238 (Utah Ct. App. 2001) ("a finding of bad faith is a factual question...[a]ppellants must marshal the evidence, citing... to all the evidence supporting the trial court's ruling.");¹⁷ *See, also, Chipman v. Miller*, 934 P.2d 1158, 1163 (Utah App 1997) (party should marshal in attacking bad

¹⁷Reversed on other grounds, *Wardley Better Homes and Gardens v. Cannon*, 458 Utah Adv. Rep. 15. (Utah 2002). The court held that imputing an agent's bad faith to the principal raises a legal question, but did not disapprove the Court of Appeals conclusion that marshalling of evidence is required in challenging factual determinations of bad faith. Even if marshalling is not required, Judge Burton was correct. *Id.* ¶ 14.

faith ruling but failure not fatal if only memorandum were reviewed); *Utah Department of Social Services v. Abrams*, 806 P.2d 1193 (Utah App. 1991). OPC has not even purported to marshal. Instead, it has presented the conclusions it “contends” it can establish. Brief at 5.

Judge Burton acknowledged in his decision that he did not make his bad faith finding lightly. He recognized that a bad faith finding “was a serious matter.” R 673. He however reviewed the affidavits and other evidence, observed OPC’s demeanor before him, and found there was a “total lack of factual basis” for the action, particularly on the issue of notice, and it could not have been brought “with an honest belief in its propriety.” R 674. The uncontroverted record facts set out below bear out that conclusion.

Rather than marshaling the facts, OPC offers two excuses to this Court. It says it’s the screening panel’s fault and that Mr. Wilson, Chair of the Ethics and Discipline Committee, also signed the complaint, so OPC is not responsible. Those contentions are baseless and belied by the record.

B. This Is Not the Screening Panel’s Fault.

OPC attempts on appeal to immunize itself from responsibility for its prosecution of Sonnenreich by arguing that the screening panel told it to bring the action and it had no discretion to do otherwise. Brief at 32. First, as explained above, the screening panel finding was made in defiance of the instructions and is legally inadequate to satisfy RLDD 11(a). Second, OPC’s discretion is a matter of public record. One need look no further than OPC’s last publicly posted report, for the year 1999 (available on the Bar’s web sit at www.utahstatebar.org under the heading archives). That report outlines the discipline process. It contains a section heading

stating “Formal Not Filed.” Far from indicating that OPC’s has no discretion once the screening panel has found grounds for a formal complaint, the report explains:

The Screening Panel may also recommend that a formal complaint be filed with the District Court. If the screening panel recommends that the case be filed as a formal complaint, negotiations can continue.

OPC’s 1999 Report at page 4.

The statistical section of the report shows 25 cases in the category “cases voted formal not filed.” *Id.* at page 8.

Additionally, OPC never asked the screening panel to find any facts. It was not asked what, if anything, Sonnenreich did that constituted the practice of law or holding out. OPC can’t neglect to have the screening panel tell it the facts then rely on the screening panel for its claim to have a factual basis. Further, OPC told the screening panel the suspension was valid. It cannot rely on the screening panel to as proof of OPC’s good faith basis for its own belief in the suspension’s validity.

OPC did not controvert that the screening panel “voted discipline” on all the similar cases screened that night but OPC ignored that instruction and again singled out Sonnenreich by filing in district court only against her. R 53; R47 R703. OPC offered Judge Burton no explanation.

C. This is not Mr. Wilson’s Fault.

OPC attempts to immunize itself by suggesting the Chair of the Ethics and Discipline Committee vouched safe OPC by signing the complaint. Brief at 27. That is both unfair to Mr. Wilson and utterly lacking in factual basis in the record. If OPC had accurately apprised

Mr. Wilson of the facts underlying this matter and provided a copy of the screening panel report for his review, it would seem a simple matter for OPC to obtain an affidavit from Mr. Wilson to that effect. OPC did not do so. OPC failed to submit any evidence to Judge Burton demonstrating the circumstances around Mr. Wilson's signature. It did not demonstrate what materials were received by Mr. Wilson and what he was told before he signed off on the complaint. Without such evidence OPC was again resting on a mere contention. Indeed, the only evidence on the point is that Mr. Wilson signed a complaint that did not have a copy of the screening panel report attached. R 1-4. Mr. Wilson did not learn the facts from the face of the complaint. R 1-4. Nothing in the record establishes whether Mr. Wilson acted as safeguard or as a perfunctor. OPC also fails to cite any legal authority for the notion that Mr. Wilson's signature immunizes it.

D. OPC's Bad Faith is Manifest.

OPC has failed to produce the RLDD 8 notice that it now claims was the instrument that worked the suspension. If OPC really believes it is such a notice of suspension that suspended Sonnenreich, it is inconceivable that it could believe this case was justified. It has not and cannot produce such a notice. R 24.

Sonnenreich demonstrated that she received no notice of her suspension. OPC tries to save the prosecution by contending evidence of notice will be discovered. That tactic is long discredited. See *Thayne v. Beneficial Utah, Inc.*, 874 P.2d 120 (Utah 1994).

OPC has been given two chances before Judge Stirba (on the issue of the adequacy of its pleadings) and before Judge Burton in the context of bad faith to explain the events and

circumstances surrounding Sonnenreich’s alleged practice of law or holding out to practice. It has failed to do anything beyond reassert that it “contends” Sonnenreich did something that could constitute practicing or holding out. R 492-493; Brief at 5.

OPC presents no evidence to rebut the evidence submitted by Sonnenreich that OPC’s prosecution of her was both inconsistent with its treatment of other attorneys (including those caught practicing by the district court (R 53, R491-515, R703, R905)) and showing OPC’s conduct was particularly vicious. See Facts ¶¶ 7, 10, above. On the latter point, the record demonstrates that OPC counsel contacted a firm where Sonnenreich had not worked in a decade and presented the matter as if she was investigating Sonnenreich for practicing while suspended as a matter of Bar discipline. R 653, 508-509. OPC never, before the screening panel, in the complaint or before Judge Stirba or Burton produced any evidence from those individuals. Facts ¶ 10. Nor did OPC explain why they were contacted. OPC presented no evidence from that counsel to explain a good faith basis for her behavior or to rebut the conclusion that she singled out Sonnenreich because she reported OPC counsel’s to the Bar director, nor to rebut Sonnenreich’s evidence in any other way.¹⁸

OPC grossly overcharged Sonnenreich before the screening panel R117. When the screening panel found only a single harmless and negligent violation, OPC was not deterred. R 155. Although a negligent and harmless violation cannot satisfy RLDD 11’s requirement that the screening panel find grounds for “public discipline,” OPC was undeterred. It simply omitted the screening panel report when it filed the complaint. R 1-4. OPC did not plead what the panel

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